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RHESA HAVKI NS BARKSDALE, Circuit Judge:?

The primary issue in this bank fraud case is the sufficiency
of the evidence against Gary R Matthews and John T. Lundy. They
al so base error on jury instructions and the adm ssion of bank
policies and of testinony clainmed subject tothe marital privil ege.
AFFI RVED.

| .

Calunet Farm in Lexington, Kentucky, was a very prom nent
t horoughbred farm Its prize stallion was Al ydar, one of the top
two or three stud stallions in the world during the [ate 1980s.

From 1980 until 1991, Cal unet was operated by Lundy, as president,

L Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the court has detern ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCQR R 47.5. 4.



and Matthews, as financial officer and counsel. Lundy had “ful
di scretionary managenent powers”.

By 1987, Cal unet was havi ng substanti al cash fl ow probl ens and
difficulty keeping current its paynents to its long-tine |ender,
Citizens Fidelity of Lexington, Kentucky. Citizens Fidelity |oan
of ficers deternmi ned Calunmet was |osing nonthly alnost $1 mllion,
as the thoroughbred industry was experiencing a downturn. When
Cal unmet requested a loan increase to $30 nillion (from $25
mllion), Ctizens Fidelity declined because of the size of the
|l oan and Calunet’s inability to generate sufficient cash flow to
service it.

Consequently, Matthews and Lundy turned to Frank C hak, vice
chairman of First Gty National Bank in Houston, Texas. (In this
case, G hak was an wunindicted coconspirator of Matthews and
Lundy.? In May 1988, Ci hak brought Mtthews to Houston to neet
wth First Gty s Energy Division to arrange financing for Cal unet.

Prior to the neeting, G hak inforned the | oan officers: the
transaction was highly confidential; C hak could vouch for the
borrower’s character; and normal due diligence was unnecessary.
During the neeting, Matthews: |isted Calunet’s needs; requested

the | oan be made quickly; described that repaynent woul d be nade

2 Because of other crimnal activities while First CGty’'s vice
chai rman, C hak was tw ce convi cted of conspiracy, bank fraud, wire
fraud, m sapplication of bank funds, making false statenents to a
financial institution, nmaking false entries in bank records, and
money | aundering. See United States v. Ci hak, 137 F.3d 252 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, 525 U S. 847, and cert. denied, 525 U S. 888
(1998); United States v. Allen, 76 F.3d 1348 (5th Gr.), cert.
denied, 519 U. S. 838, and cert. denied, 519 U S. 841 (1996).
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from Calunet’s cash flow — essentially, the seasonal sales of
horses and breeding rights; and provided financial statenents and
apprai sals of Calunet’s thoroughbreds, which were essentially the
| oan col |l ateral.

Wllians, the primary officer for the Calunet |oan, testified
Matt hews never disclosed Calunet’s cash flow problens or its
difficulty in making paynents to Ctizens Fidelity. On the other
hand, WIlIlians’ supervisor, Falk, admtted on cross-exam nation he
was told of such difficulty.

Matthews told First Cty the appraisals he provided at the
meeting were prepared by Robert Fox of Associated Thoroughbred
Projects, S.1. (ATPSI); he advised that Fox was an independent
appraiser wwth no connection to Calunet. Matthews did not inform
First City that Fox acted as an agent for, and earned nost of his
i ncone fromcomm ssions paid by, Calunet. Citizens Fidelity |oan
officers testified Fox's appraisals were “excessive” and
“inflated”.

The First City loan officers were directed by G hak to nake no
“real independent analysis” and basically to use the information
provi ded by Matthews and Lundy. The officers were not to contact
Citizens Fidelity, or Calunet’s owners or creditors, and not to
obtain third party appraisals of the thoroughbreds. Ref rai ni ng
from contacting the current |ender was not wunusual, but the
totality of these restrictions was contrary to First City’s nornal
practice. Had it not been for C hak, First Gty would not have

made t he | oan.



Approxi mately one week after the neeting with Matthews, First
City offered Calunet a three-year termloan of $15 million, with a
$20 mllion revolving line of credit (revolver). Quarterly,
Cal unet was to pay $750,000 in principal, plus interest. The |oan
was funded in August 1988.

Al nmost  immediately, Calunet had problens servicing it.
Cal unet had to draw on the revol ver to nake the interest paynents,
was late providing financial statenents and conpliance
certificates, was unable to pay down the revolver in Cctober and
Novenber as required under the agreenent, and nmade the quarterly
princi pal paynent by drawing on the revolver. The inability to pay
down the revol ver was significant, because it neant Matthews knew
prior to the loan’s funding that Calunet was not followng its
busi ness plan submtted to First Cty and would be unable to
generate cash flow sufficient to cover the paynents as agreed.

In Novenber 1988, Calunet requested an increase in the

revolver to $50 million in order to pay insurance premuns on its
horses. First City agreed to an increase to $31 nmillion to protect
its collateral. Matthews made assurances to First Cty that this

was a one-tine problemand Cal unet would pay down the revol ver by
sel ling horses.

The primary loan officer at First Cty testified that,
regarding the loan, he becane aware C hak was “making credit
decisions ... without contacting any of the ... [loan] officers”.
Frequently, over the course of the loan, C hak would negotiate

directly with Matt hews and Lundy regardi ng credit deci si ons w t hout



any involvenent by the loan officers and would overrule those
of ficers’ decisions or nmake decisions with which they disagreed.

In January 1989, the Energy Division |oan officers began to
learn of Calunet’s efforts to sell stallions to Japanese investors
and C hak’'s efforts, through a different First Cty division,
Capital Markets, to facilitate the sale. That February, as
di scussed below concerning business transactions involving
Mat t hews, Lundy, and Ci hak, C hak approved a $2.5 mllion increase
in Calunet’s revolver. That July, at a neeting at Cal unet between
Mat t hews and Lundy and the | oan officers, to discuss the troubled
status of the Calunmet |oan, the |loan officers |learned: G hak had
been to Calunet the previous weekend; G hak had agreed to permt
Calunet to defer a paynent due on 15 August; WMatthews and Lundy
felt that, because of their relationship with G hak, the | oan
officers’ decisions were irrelevant; C hak was actively involved in
Calunet’s deal to sell stallions to the Japanese investors; and
C hak intended to keep the First Cty officers involved in that
Japanese transaction separate from those involved in the Cal unet
| oan.

I n Septenber 1989, Matthews provided a “Report of Mares Bred
(1989)” to First City at its request; it listed mares bred with
Al ydar at Calunet. But, the report (in columar format |listing the
nanme of the mare, | ocation, dates, etc.) omtted the colum |isting
the nane of the mare’ s owner. The sane report from Calunet’s
busi ness files contained this colum and listed G hak as the owner

of Luci nda Light.



Later that nonth, the loan officers attenpted to anend the
Cal unet | oan by: obtaining additional <collateral; requiring
specific future paynents be nmade on the revolver; having the
borrow ng base reduced; and requiring further conpliance reporting.
In response, Matthews wote C hak discussing the proposals and
requesting changes to the proposed anendnents. The |oan officers
were unaware of Matthews’ letter. C hak agreed to Matthews’ terns,
informng the officers of the terns of the anmendnents —deferring
certain paynents and del aying paynents on the revolver until 1
January 1990.

Shortly thereafter, Calunet failed to tinely nmake t he Novenber
1989 princi pal paynent. Later in Novenber, Lundy inforned the
bank’s officers that, in order to nmake the required paynent,
Cal unet woul d borrow noney from another | ender. At this point,
nmore than a year after the Calunet | oan’s fundi ng, Calunet had not
made a single paynent fromits cash flow, as initially prom sed.

Not surprisingly, conmmunication between the | oan officers and
Mat t hews and Lundy “severely deteriorated” - Lundy never returned
tel ephone calls, and contact with Matthews was |imted. Cal unet
finally made the Novenber paynent on 2 January 1990, but failed to
make the deferred revolver paynents as agreed (follow ng the
Sept enber 1989 negoti ations).

In January 1990, the Energy Division recommended to the | oan

review conmttee downgrading the Calunet loan to “substandard”.?

3 At First City, loans were classified as “perform ng”, “other
assets expressly nentioned”, “substandard”, and “doubtful”. Aless
favorable classification resulted in nore scrutiny by the |oan
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But, at a February loan review conmttee neeting with the Energy
Di vi sion, Ci hak made fal se statenments concerning Calunet’s credit.*
The downgrade recomendati on was not approved. That March, G hak
moved the Calunmet |oan to another First City division, which
reported directly to C hak and was headed by “one of G hak’s nen”
fromhis prior Chicago bank.

During these | oan events, and as di scussed bel ow, Matthews,
Lundy, and C hak had several business dealings beneficial (at
various tines) to each of them Three of those transactions were:
Matt hews arranged a transaction over New Year’'s Eve weekend 1988
(just prior to Ci hak’s approving the above-described $2.5 mllion
i ncrease in February 1989 to Calunet’s revolver), whichresulted in
an approximate $1 m|lion business deduction for G hak against his

1988 taxes; Lundy gifted certain breeding rights to G hak, worth

$125,000 (also around the tinme of the $2.5 mllion revol ver-
i ncrease); and as a favor to C hak, Lundy borrowed $5.2 mllion to
prevent a First Cty debtor from defaulting on a $140 mllion

letter of credit.

In setting up the New Year’s Eve weekend 1988 (NYE ‘88)
transaction, Matthews in late 1988 told ECC, a conpany speci al i zi ng
in financing thoroughbred transactions: C hak wanted to borrow

from ECC, Ci hak did not need to provide financial statenents to

review conmttee, and classifying a |loan as substandard required
First Gty to increase its reserves to offset a potentially
uncol |l ecti bl e debt (because of FDI C regul ations).

4 It was consi dered very unusual for C hak, as Vice Chairman, to
attend a | oan revi ew neeting.



ECC, because Cal unet woul d provide ECC the noney to | end G hak; and
ECC woul d not be required to repay those Cal unet-provided funds if
C hak defaulted on the ECC | oan. In orchestrating the NYE ‘88
transaction, Matthews gave witten instructions to G hak regarding
checks to wite, deposits to make, and the use of overnight
couriers.

On 30 Decenber 1988, G hak signed a note to ECC for
$1, 105, 000, due 15 February 1989 at 12.5 percent interest. The
next day, 31 Decenber, ECC s $1,105,000 check to G hak was
deposited in his account. When ECC s check was deposited in
C hak’s account, ECC s bank balance was only $96, 000.
Nevert hel ess, ECC s $1, 105,000 check was paid by ECC s bank on 4
January 1989. That sane day, two deposits totaling $1, 105, 000 were
made to ECC s account, allowng ECC s check to Ghak to clear.
Those deposits were a $460, 000 check from Calumet and a $645, 000
check fromATPSI (the conpany operated by the above referenced Fox,
the horse appraiser, and Al an Krutchkoff). Bot h checks had the
notation “l oan”.

Krut chkoff testified: ATPSI relied wupon Calunet for
approxi mately 75 percent of its incone; he did not recall the | oan
but acknow edged signing the check; the check likely related to a
year-end tax deduction; and ATPSI’'s bank bal ance was only $130, 800
when the $645,000 check to ECC was witten on 31 Decenber 1988.
Two checks (one for $210,000 and another for $435,000), both
witten by C hak, were deposited into ATPSI’s account on 4 January

1989, permtting ATPSI’s check to ECC to clear. The checks



contained notations referring to an Al ydar breedi ng season and the
| ease of a mare, the earlier referenced Lucinda Light.
On 2 March 1989, ATPSI was paid $300, 000, |eaving a “bal ance

due” (after subtracting interest on the “loan”) of nore than
$353, 000 agai nst the $645, 000 check from ATPSI to ECC.® The sane
day, ATPSI sent $225,000 to Maricopa Ranch (Matthews was a director
and the registered agent; Lundy was the representative |isted on
several financing statenents).

An FBI financial analyst, who exam ned the bank records
involving the NYE ‘88 transaction, testified as follows. The
proceeds of the $1, 105,000 check to G hak funded itsel f, because it
“was the first in a series of [check] transactions ... based on
artificially inflated bank account balances ... supported by
wor t hl ess checks”. Ci hak had $65, 000 i n his account on 30 Decenber
1988, but that day wote four checks totaling $1,305, 000 - two
payable to Calunet ($210,000 and $450,000) and two to ATPSI
($210, 000 and $435,000). ATPSI wote the $645, 000 check to ECC on
31 Decenber, based on G hak’s checks artificially inflating its
account; along with ATPSI’'s check, Calunet’s check to ECC permtted
ECC s $1,105,000 check to Chak to clear. The FBI anal yst

testified: “Were it not for either one of those deposits, [the

5 The source of the $300,000 paid to ATPSI is unclear. ATPSI
received a wire transfer of $300,000 in March 1989. Kr ut chkof f
wrot e Lundy t hat August inquiring about G hak and the Luci nda Li ght
| ease; both the letter and the transaction statenent acconpanyi ng
the letter attribute the $300,000 wire transfer as paynments on the
$645, 000 “l oan” from ATPSI to ECC. Krutchkoff’'s letter to Lundy
was found during a search of the honme of an associate of C hak
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$1, 105, 000] check would have bounced, and then the other checks
woul d have bounced as wel|”.

As a result of the NYE ‘88 transaction, Ci hak took a
$1, 305, 000 busi ness deduction on his 1988 tax return. G hak al so
used sonme of the “funds” fromthe ECC $1, 105, 000 check to | ease a
mare, Stick to Beauty, to be bred wwth Alydar. The resulting foal
was sol d for $750, 000 i n October 1990, with Lundy acting as G hak’s
agent for the sale. The funds were distributed: $671,688 to ECC,
$34, 365 to an i nsurance agency; and $43,746 to C hak. O the funds
it received, ECC wired $531,862 to Calunet in Decenber 1990, and
Cal unet wired $512, 833 of those funds to repay a $650, 000 | oan nade
to G hak by Lee Casty, a Chicago associate of C hak. Earlier, on
1 Septenber 1990, G hak had received $650,000 from Casty and had
wi red $150,000 to Lundy and $500,000 to Cal unet; Cal unet used the
money to make a First Gty | oan paynent while Lundy used t he noney
to make an interest paynment on the $5.2 million First City |oan
(Lundy’s favor to C hak, described bel ow).

The second of three of the above referenced transactions
i nvol ving G hak, WMatthews, and Lundy began in early 1989, when
Calunet, in an agreenent signed by Lundy and G hak, provided C hak
with Secreto’s 1989 breedi ng season. The purchase price was “$1. 00
(one dollar and other good and val uable consideration)”. John
Ward, who in 1991 repl aced Lundy as Calunet’s president, testified

that, in the equine business, such | anguage equates with a gift.®

6 According to Ward, Secreto was “one of the highest priced
horses ever purchased”. A breeding season l|lasts four to five
nmont hs and gi ves excl usive breeding rights during that tine.
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In January 1989, the Secreto season was val ued at approximtely
$125, 000.

The third referenced transaction began in early 1990, when
Lundy borrowed $5.2 mllion from First Cty' s Dallas bank
purportedly for stock in a Spanish resort and artwork. |In fact,
the funds went directly to another bank to pay debts of another
First Gty customer, the Coca famly.” The loan closed and was
funded prior to First CGty' s receiving all the paperwork. The | oan
was issued in the nanme of John T. Lundy and Lucille Lundy, his
w fe, but Ms. Lundy never signed the | oan agreenent. Lundy signed
her nanme, claimng she gave himwitten authority to do so. At
trial, as discussed in part II.E, Lundy’'s fornmer wfe (they
divorced in 1993) testified she did not recall giving Lundy that
aut hority; however, she testified earlier to the grand jury she did
not authorize anyone to sign her nane to the |oan agreenent. At
trial, she testified she had not lied to the grand jury.

Wen First City attenpted in 1991 to collect on the $5.2
mllion |oan, Lundy responded: the |oan was “an accommodation to
the bank”; “the bank used [hin] to funnel noney to the Coca
famly”; and First City had represented to himthat the Coca fam |y

woul d pay the | oan, the value of the coll ateral exceeded the | oan,

! Cihak caused First City to execute a $120 mllion letter of
credit to that bank on behalf of the Cocas. In early 1990, the
Cocas needed $5.2 mllion to avoid default on debt owed to the
ot her bank; if the Cocas defaulted, First Cty would |ose $140
mllion. GCihak arranged for Lundy to borrow the $5.2 mllion and
pressured Lundy to go through with the | oan.
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the collateral could be easily liquidated in the event of default,
and First Cty would refinance Lundy’s farm and equi ne | oans.

Prior to this collection effort, Lundy attenpted to use the
accommodation to cause First Gty to extend nore credit to Cal unet.
In the sumer of 1990, G hak arranged for Robert Richley, First
City's president, to neet with Mitthews and Lundy to discuss
Cal unet’ s request for nore credit. Richley opposed extendi ng nore.
Wi | e Matt hews was expl ai ning Calunet’s situation to R chley, Lundy
interrupted Matthews and said: “Look, we need help here. And we
hel ped you in Dallas and we expect to get hel ped here”. Richley
responded he had no i dea what Lundy was tal ki ng about and ended t he
meet i ng.

O her evidence of side dealings between C hak, Matthews, and
Lundy i ncluded C hak’s indebtedness to Calunet. A Septenber 1989
meno fromMatthews to Lundy di scussi ng Cal unet’s cash fl ow probl ens
suggested that Calunmet not pressure C hak on his debt to Cal unet
and either allow himto defer paynent as long as he could help
Calunet or offer partial debt forgiveness as “conpensation or [a]
comm ssion” for extending further credit on First Cty s |oan.
Further, in early 1991, Lundy attenpted to collect on a debt
relating to the July 1984 purchase of alifetinme breeding right in
Alydar (C hak owed 25 percent of this right). As an
accommodati on, Lundy had not required paynent during 1989 and 1990.

In May 1990, during a review of Calunet’s conpliance wth
First Gty s loan agreenent, Calunet’s accountants discovered a

Cal unet “loan” of $460,000 to ECC (the 4 January 1989 check
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supporting, in part, the NYE ‘88 transaction) and reported it to
First City. Mtthews imediately wote First CGty: “The loan to
[ECC] was a tax financing transaction to enable an individual to
| ease a mare at the end of 1988. Thus, Calunet did not actually
lend the noney to [ECC] but used [ECC] as a vehicle to add
substance to the transaction”. (Enphasis added.)

Neither Richley (First Cty's president), Falk (the earlier-
referenced Energy Division group manager who supervi sed t he Cal unet
| oan), nor any loan officer in that division knew C hak was the
unidentified “individual” involved in the transaction. Had First
Cty known that G hak received either a substantial anount of
nmoney, or the Secreto season, or any other thing of value from
Matt hews or Lundy, G hak mght have been, anong other things
termnated by First Cty. There was no prohibition on bank
custoners doing business with their bankers, but bank policy
precl uded G hak fromdoi ng any busi ness with Cal unet because he was
i nvol ved in the approval of Calunet credit decisions.

Because of an internal investigation begun during | ate sumer
1990 into C hak-related transactions at First GCty, G hak obtained
an affidavit from Lundy in January 1991 expl aining: he had no
busi ness dealings with G hak prior to 1988; the NYE ‘88 transacti on

i nvol ved “standard horse | ease arrangenents”; C hak was given “no
speci al consideration” in the deal; the |eases “were not special
arrangenents”; and he sold a half interest in Hail Secreto to G hak

in the spring of 1990.
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By md-1990, Calunet’s debt at First Cty was approxi mtely
$40 mllion, and Calunmet asked for another $15 mllion. |Instead,
in Cctober 1990, First Cty restructured the account into a term
loan of $42 mllion, with the first paynent of $15 nmillion due
February 1991. Cal unet was unable to nake the Novenber 1990
interest paynment but nmade the $15 mllion paynent because of
i nsurance proceeds froma horse’s death. Meanwhile, the interna
investigation at First City resulted in C hak’s forced resignation
in October 1990.

In the spring of 1991, Matthews and Lundy were di sm ssed by
Calunet. Lundy’s replacenent, Ward, testified: as of Matthews’
and Lundy’s dism ssals, Calunmet was alnost $60 million in debt,
with First City being the largest creditor (nmore than $28 mllion);
and Lundy received mllions that should have gone to Cal unet
Cal unet decl ared bankruptcy in July 1991.

When Lundy was arrested in 1999, a handwitten letter found in
his briefcase recited, inter alia, his recollection of a 1997
interviewwth FBI Agents. The letter: revealed Lundy lied to the
Agents about his wife's signature on their 1990 and 1991 tax
returns; requested the letter’s recipient to obtain “a paper” (an
affidavit) fromLundy’s ex-wife stating either her signature was on
the $5.2 mllion | oan agreenent or Lundy had power of attorney to
sign her nane; expressed Lundy’s hope her statenent would end the
i nvestigation or “prove [the $5.2 mi|Ilion | oan] was an arnis | ength
deal ”; directed the recipient to call Lundy’s ex-wife to assure her

she woul d not get in trouble for signing an affidavit, an affidavit
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woul d save him and it would keep her out of trouble. The letter
further detailed Lundy’s 1991 affidavit to First City, prepared for
Ci hak, (describing it as “close to right”) and discussed other
busi ness deals with G hak, including a mning deal in Illinois.

Followng a jury trial in early 2000, Matthews and Lundy were
convicted of bank fraud, in violation of 18 U . S.C. 8§ 1344 & 1366;
bank bribery, in violation of 18 U S C § 215; making false
statenents to a financial institution, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
1014; and conspiracy to commt bank fraud and bribery and to make
fal se statenents to a financial institution, in violation of 18
US C §371. Mitthews and Lundy’s Oct ober 2000 sent ences i nposed,
inter alia, 21 and 54 nonths inprisonnent, respectively, and
approximately $20 million restitution by each of them

1.

Matt hews and Lundy claim insufficient evidence for each
conviction and contest the jury instruction on false statenents.
In addition, Matthews asserts the court erred by not instructing on
the defense of good faith and by admtting evidence of C hak's
banki ng policies violations; Lundy, that it erred by admtting his
ex-w fe's testinony concerning marital conmmunications.

A

“[A] defendant seeking reversal on the basis of insufficient
evi dence swi ns upstreani. United States v. Miulderig, 120 F. 3d 534,
546 (5th Gr. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U S. 1071 (1998). Neither

Matt hews nor Lundy testified. Nor, other than through cross
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exam nation, did they present evidence in their defense. o
course, the burden of proof rests with the Governnent.

Evi dence is sufficient to convict if, when viewed in the |ight
nmost favorable to the verdict, “a rational jury could have found
the essential elenments of the crinme beyond a reasonable doubt”.
United States v. Dupre, 117 F.3d 810, 818 (5th Cir. 1997), cert.
denied, 522 U S 1078 (1998). It is unnecessary to disprove
alternative theories because the jury’s verdi ct can be supported by
“reasonabl e constructions of the evidence”. United States v.
Peterson, 244 F.3d 385, 389 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 122 S. Ct.
142 (2001). Restated, all reasonable inferences are drawn in favor
of the verdict. E g., United States v. Soape, 169 F.3d 257, 264
(5th Gr.), cert. denied, 527 U. S. 1011 (1999).

1

To prove a conspiracy violative of 18 U S C § 371, the
Gover nnment nust show. an agreenent between at | east two persons to
commt a crine; the defendant knowi ngly joined the conspiracy; and
at |least one overt act by a conspirator in furtherance of the
conspiracy. G hak, 137 F.3d at 259-60. The jury may infer from
circunstantial evidence the existence of a conspiracy. See United
States v. Burton, 126 F.3d 666, 670 (5th Cr. 1997). And, once the
Gover nnent produces evidence of a conspiracy, only slight evidence
is needed to connect a defendant to it. United States v. Jensen,
41 F.3d 946, 954-55 (5th Gr. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U. S. 1101
(1995). If found to be a nenber of a conspiracy, a defendant is

liable for all substantive offenses conmtted in furtherance of it,
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even if he is unaware of those specific offenses. United States v.
Phillips, 219 F.3d 404, 417 (5th Gr. 2000); Jensen, 41 F.3d at
955.

The Governnment notes the follow ng evidence in support of the
conspiracy convictions. Chak interfered wwth the |oan officers’
attenpts to secure paynent on the Calunmet |oan by circunventing
them and dealing directly with Matthews and Lundy. Follow ng the
downgr ade recommendati on for the | oan, C hak’s fal se statenents to
the | oan review comm ttee and Ci hak’s eventual transfer of the | oan
to another division, controlled by C hak’s associate, are acts in
furtherance of the conspiracy. I n exchange, G hak was provided
benefits: when Matthews structured the NYE ‘88 transaction to
provide G hak with a $1,105,000 tax deduction while concealing
Mat t hews, Lundy, and Cal unet as the source of the funds; when C hak
was gi fted the Secreto breedi ng season; and when Lundy obt ai ned t he
$5.2 mllion loan as a favor to C hak

Because Ci hak approved a $2.5 mllion increase in the Cal unet
| oan shortly after the Secreto gift and the NYE ‘88 transaction,
t he Governnent contends the jury could infer the existence of the
conspiracy. Al so, the Governnent contends evidence of the
conspiracy is found in Mtthews' Septenber 1989 neno to Lundy
suggesting Lundy bribe C hak by deferring his debt to Calunet in
exchange for favorable treatnent on the Cal unet | oan.

Def endants state the conspiracy charge is based on the acts
charged in the bank fraud, bank bribery, and false statenents

counts, in addition to two ot her acts: the $5.2 mllion loan to
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Lundy and the Secreto season gift. Their contentions concerning
the substantive charges are di scussed below. As to the other two
acts, Defendants assert: the evidence did not establish First
City’'s know edge or understanding as to the $5.2 nmillion |oan or
the validity of Ms. Lundy’s signature and there is no evidence
that Lundy or Matthews attenpted to hide the loan fromFirst Cty;
and evidence concerning the Secreto season did not establish it
was, in fact, a gift, as opposed to part of other transactions
bet ween Cal unmet and G hak

There was sufficient evidence for the conspiracy convictions,
as further shown below. Viewing the earlier described evidence,
and drawing all reasonable inferences in the light nost favorable
to the verdict, a rational jury could have found, beyond a
reasonabl e doubt, the el enents for a conspiracy i nvol vi ng Matt hews,
Lundy, and C hak to commt bank bribery and fraud, and to mnake
fal se statements to a financial institution

2.

To establish bank fraud violative of 18 U S.C. § 1344, the
Gover nnment nust prove Matthews and Lundy know ngly executed, or
attenpted to execute, a schene to defraud a federally-chartered or
federally-insured financial institution. United States v. Doke,
171 F.3d 240, 243 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 528 U S. 907 (1999).
The requisite intent is established by proving the defendant acted
wWth the specific intent to deceive to bring about financial gain
to hinself. United States v. Saks, 964 F.2d 1514, 1519 (5th Gr.

1992) . The schene to defraud may include false representations
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intended to deceive the institution in order to obtain noney from
it. See United States v. Hanson, 161 F.3d 896, 900 (5th Cr. 1998)
(quoting Saks, 964 F.2d at 1518). Any fal se representati on nust be
“material” — capable of influencing the institution’s decision-
maki ng process. See Neder v. United States, 527 U S. 1, 25 (1999);
United States v. Mser, 123 F. 3d 813, 826 n.11 (5th Cr.), cert.
deni ed, 522 U. S. 1020, and cert. denied, 522 U. S. 1035 (1997), and
cert. denied, 522 U S. 1092 (1998).

Model ed after the mail and wire fraud statutes, 18 U.S.C. 88§
1341 and 1343, the bank fraud statute is interpreted in the |ight
of the precedent interpreting those statutes. Saks, 964 F.2d at
1520-21. A “representation may be fal se when it constitutes a half
truth or effectively conceals a material fact, provided it is nade
with the intent to defraud”. Moser, 123 F.3d at 826; see also
Blachly v. United States, 380 F.2d 665, 673-74 (5th Gr. 1967)
(“IA] scheme may be fraudulent even though no affirmative
m srepresentation of fact be nmade. The deceitful conceal ment of
material facts may also constitute actual fraud”. (citations

om tted; enphasis added)).?

8 Most circuits agree false representations or statenents
i ncl ude conceal nent of material facts. See, e.g., United States v.
Colton, 231 F.3d 890, 901 (4th Cr. 2000) (“deceptive acts or
contrivances intended to hide information, m sl ead, avoi d
suspicion, or avert further inquiry into a mterial matter”
sufficient proof for schene to defraud); United States v. Ml inaro,
11 F.3d 853, 861 (9th Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 513 U S. 1059
(1994) (conceal nent of nature of a financial transaction part of
schene to defraud); United States v. Goodman, 984 F.2d 235, 240
(8th Gr. 1993) (schene to defraud shown by *“nondisclosure
mani festing an intent to defraud”); United States v. datunji, 872
F.2d 1161, 1167 (3d Gr. 1989) (false representations include
“deceitful statenents of half truths or the conceal nent of materi al
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O course, fraud clains nust be based on m srepresentations of
material fact, not opinion. See Presidio Enters., Inc. v. Warner
Bros. Distrib. Corp., 784 F.2d 674, 678-79 (5th Cr. 1986) (civil
suit alleging common |aw fraud). Matthews contends that, even if
the Cal unet business plan was false, it does not constitute fraud
because it was nerely an expressi on of opinion. Defendants contend
First Gty was infornmed of Calunmet’s cash flow problens, and
Matt hews asserts the |oan officers’ testinony reflects they felt
Matt hews believed what he told First Cty during the pre-Iloan
period and they could not conclude he intentionally m sled them

Def endants maintain that, absent a duty to disclose, a fraud
convi ction cannot be based on the failure to disclose information.
See Chiarella v. United States, 445 U S 222, 235 (1980).
Defendants contend there is no duty to disclose a custoner’s
dealings with his banker; rather, the burden of disclosure is on
t he banker. Further, they assert the om ssion of the owners’ nanes
on the Report of Mares Bred was consistent with Calunet’s
confidentiality policy for its custoners.

The Governnent counters that: the bank, mail, and wre fraud
statutes do not require that there be a duty to disclose; the
schene to defraud is a “departure from fundanental honesty, nora

uprightness, or fair play and candid dealings in the general life

facts”) (quoting United States v. Allen, 554 F.2d 398, 410 (10th
Cir.), cert. denied, 434 U S. 836 (1977)); United States v. Wl ker,
871 F.2d 1298, 1308 (6th Cr. 1989) (statenent containing half
truths or concealing material fact is false); United States v.
Sawyer, 799 F.2d 1494, 1502 (11th Cr. 1986), cert. denied, 479
U. S 1069 (1987) (schene to defraud includes fal se representations
or concealing material facts).
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of the community”. United States v. CGoldblatt, 813 F.2d 619, 624
(3d Gr. 1987); see also United States v. Curry, 681 F.2d 406, 410
(5th Cr. 1982). The Governnent also cites two cases from ot her
circuits which reaffirmthe principle that the bank, nmail, and wire
fraud statutes do not require a duty to disclose i nposed by statute
or regulation. See Colton, 231 F.3d at 904; United States v.
Morris, 80 F.3d 1151, 1161 (7th GCr.), cert. denied, 519 U S. 868
(1996) .

As with the conspiracy charge, the evidence is nore than
sufficient for bank fraud. For exanple, the request for
“confidentiality”, the representations during the pre-loan period
t hat Fox was an i ndependent horse appraiser, Matthews’ prom ses to
sell horses during negotiations over the extension of nore credit
to Calunet, and Matthews’ conceal nent of Calunet’s dealings wth
Ci hak are sufficient evidence for a rational juror to find, beyond
a reasonable doubt, concealnent of material facts constituting
m srepresentations intending to deceive First Cty for the purpose
of obtaining noney for Calunet. See Dupre, 117 F.3d at 819-20.

3.

A defendant nmakes a false statenent to a financia
institution, violative of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1014, if he made a false
statenent to influence in any way the actions of a financial
institution with regard to its lending activities. See United
States v. Blocker, 104 F.3d 720, 733 (5th Gr. 1997). Section 1014
applies to any false statenent nmade to a financial institution

involving credit, not just statenents nmade prior to and at the tine
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of funding. United States v. Kindig, 854 F.2d 703, 706 (5th Cr
1988). Unlike the bank fraud statute, the fal se statenent need not
be material; 8 1014 proscribes a fal sehood that influences, in any
way, the bank’s actions. See United States v. Wells, 519 U S. 482
(1997).

The Governnment contends: the intentional conceal nent of
Matt hews’ arrangenment of the $1,105,000 tax deduction for G hak
(NYE ‘88 transaction), including advising that an “individual”
rather than G hak, received $460,000 from Calunet in connection
with the NYE ‘88 transaction, was a false statenent intending to
i nfluence the bank’s lending activity; C hak was instrunental in
approvi ng the Cal unet | oan and overruling the decisions of the | oan
of ficers; and concealing the benefits Matthews and Lundy provided
C hak was essential to the continuation of their favorable
treat nent because the bank m ght have fired C hak had it known of
the benefits he received from Cal unet, Matthews, and Lundy.

Matt hews and Lundy contend: the om ssion was either not
intentional or not intended to deceive First Cty; the bank policy
requi red reporting by the banker, not the custoner, of preferenti al
treatnent; and not only was there no evidence that Mtthews or
Lundy knew of this policy, but also there was no evidence that the
NYE ‘88 transaction constituted preferential treatnent. Further,
Mat t hews’ response (using the term*®individual”, instead of nam ng
C hak) to First Cty's inquiry about the Calunment $460, 000 | oan
concerning the NYE ‘88 transaction was in a formcomonly used by

CPAs, and as a |l awer, Matthews had a duty of confidentiality and
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loyalty to G hak as his client. Finally, because the transaction
was recorded (by equine industry standards), there was no evi dence
Matt hews or Lundy attenpted to hide the transaction.

The evidence relating to the 8 1014 charge is described
earlier. As with the evidence for bank fraud, there is sufficient
evidence for a rational juror to find, beyond a reasonabl e doubt,
that, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1014, Matthews and Lundy nade
fal se statenents to First City with the intent to influence it.

4.

Bank bribery, violative of 18 U S C. § 215, consists of
corruptly giving or prom sing sonething of value to, anong ot hers,
an officer or enpl oyee of a federally-insured financial institution
“Wwth intent to influence or reward” himregardi ng bank business.
18 U . S.C. § 215(a). The CGovernnent contends: the $1, 105,000 tax
benefit provided to G hak (NYE ‘88 transaction) was a reward for
his i nvol venent in increasing the Calunet | oan, especially because
Ci hak approved a $2.5 million increase shortly thereafter; and an
explicit prom se was not required, because the jury could infer
C hak accepted the benefit “knowing ... it was paynent related to
his using his influence ... as specific opportunities arose”.
United States v. Coyne, 4 F.3d 100, 111 (2d Gr. 1993), cert.
deni ed, 510 U. S. 1095 (1994). Defendants respond that the evidence
did not reflect a corrupt intent, but rather the NYE ‘88
transaction was a | egiti mate busi ness transaction financed in atax
advant ageous way and handl ed by a third-party attorney that was not

conceal ed.
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The evi dence was far nore than sufficient for a rational juror
to find bank bribery beyond a reasonable doubt. Based on the
strong causal connection between the NYE ‘88 transaction and
C hak’s increase in Calunet’s loan and the gift of the Secreto
season, a rational juror could find that WMatthews and Lundy
provided C hak with benefits with the intent of rewarding himfor
favorabl e treatnment on the Cal unet | oan.

B.

Def endants contest the jury instruction defining the 18 U. S. C
8§ 1014 crinme of mking a false statenent to a financial
institution. Jury instructions are reviewed only for an abuse of
discretion. E.g., United States v. Pankhurst, 118 F.3d 345, 350
(5th Gr.), cert. denied, 522 U S. 1030 (1997). At issue is
“whet her the court's charge, as a whole, is a correct statenent of
the law and whether it clearly instructs jurors as to the
principles of law applicable to the factual issues confronting
t hent . United States v. MKinney, 53 F.3d 664, 676 (5th Cr.),
cert. denied, 516 U S 901, and cert. denied, 516 U S 903, and
cert. denied, 516 U. S. 970 (1995) (quoting United States v. Stacey,
896 F.2d 75, 77 (5th Gr. 1990)). The instruction read in part:

A person nmakes a false statenent under this
statute if he fails to disclose material
information to a federally insured bank in
connection with a |oan transacti on.

Mat t hews and Lundy contend: the court erred by failing to
i ncl ude | anguage they claimis required by Dupre, 117 F. 3d at 819,
and United States v. Trice, 823 F.2d 80, 86 (5th Gr. 1987)

(“section 1014 [may be violated by] the failure to disclose
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material informati on needed to avoid deception in connection with
a loan transaction” (enphasis added)); and such omtted |anguage
requires the jury to find an affirmative statenent rendered
deceptive by concurrent om ssions or an om ssion when there is a
duty to speak. Along this |ine, Defendants al so base error on the
instructions failing to state that, as di scussed supra, concerning
bank fraud, intentional om ssions without a duty to disclose did
not constitute a fal se statenent.

The Governnent first correctly observes that neither Def endant
objected to the om ssion of the phrase “needed to avoi d deception”
nor suggested its inclusion. Second, the Governnent responds that
i ntentional om ssions of material facts can constitute a violation
of § 1014.

Matt hews and Lundy each nmade general objections to the
instruction, claimng intentional om ssions without a duty to
disclose did not constitute a false statenent. | ndeed, Lundy’s
counsel even stated that the exact phrase now urged as correct did
not nmake a “good jury instruction[]”. Consequently, any issue
relating to the om ssion of the “needed to avoi d deception” phrase
is reviewed only for plain error. E. g., United States v. Heath,
970 F.2d 1397, 1407 (5th Gr. 1992), cert. denied, 507 U S. 1004
(1993); cf. United States v. Pol asek, 162 F.3d 878, 883 (5th Cr
1998) .

Plain error occurs where a “clear” or “obvious” error affects
substantial rights. See United States v. O ano, 507 U. S. 725, 732-
35 (1993); United States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160, 162-64 (5th
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Cr. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U S. 1196 (1995). Even then, we have
di scretion whether to correct the error and, generally, wll not do
sounless it “seriously affect[s] the fairness, integrity or public
reputation of judicial proceedings”. O ano, 507 U S at 736
(internal quotation marks omtted).

Al t hough both Dupre and Trice use the “need to avoid
deception” language, it is not “clear” or “obvious” that the
| anguage was required in the instruction. 1In any event, the § 1014
instruction required finding Defendants intentionally failed to
di sclose material information to a federal ly i nsured bank regardi ng
a loan transaction for the purpose of influencing its |ending
activities, whichis nore than the statute requires. See 18 U. S.C.
8§ 1014. There was no error, plain or otherw se.

Wth respect to Defendants’ renmaining contentions concerning
the 8 1014 instruction, and as discussed above, an intentional
om ssion of material fact can constitute a false statenment if nade
for the purpose of influencing a federally-insured bank’s | ending
activities. Doke, 171 F.3d at 246 (intentional failure to disclose
def endant’ s status as nom nee in |l oan transaction); Dupre, 117 F. 3d
at 819; United States v. Waldron, 53 F.3d 680, 682 n.4 (5th Cr.
1995) (rejecting literal truth defense because concealed fact
effected the | oan transaction), vacated on other grounds, 516 U. S.
928 (1995).

The instruction, as a whole, is a correct statenent of the
| aw. Consequently, the court did not abuse its discretion inits

8§ 1014 fal se statenents instruction.
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C.

Mat t hews al so contends the district court erred in failing to
instruct on the defensive theory of good faith. Again, we review
for abuse of discretion. Not giving a requested instruction is an
abuse of discretion if: the requested instruction was
substantially correct; it was not substantially covered in the
charge given; and the refusal inpaired the defendant’s right to a
fair trial. E g., United States v. Webster, 162 F.3d 308 (5th Cr
1998), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 829 (1999).

Mat t hews asserts: good faith is a conpl ete defense to charged
intent to defraud; the court’s instruction on “knowi ngly” did not
substantially cover what was requested in his good faith
instruction; and a defendant is entitled to an instruction on as
many defensive theories as are raised by the evidence. The
Governnent responds: a good faith instruction is not required if
the jury is instructed properly on the elenents of an offense,
including the requisite nental state; the given instructions
“fairly and adequately” covered the good faith i ssue, United States
v. Daniels, 247 F.3d 598, 601 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 122 S. C
288 (2001); and throughout the trial, Matthews presented the good
faith defense to the jury.

There was no abuse of discretion. The instructions
substantially covered the requested i nstruction by defining and/ or
explaining the follow ng terns: “knowi ngly” (conspiracy, bank
fraud, false statenents), “wllfully” (conspiracy), “corruptly”

(bank bribery), and “material” and “purpose of influencing” (false
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statenents). Further, Matthews was fully able to present his
defense to the jury during his cross-examnation of First Gty’'s
|l oan officers and his closing argunent. See United States v.
Chaney, 964 F.2d 437, 445-46 (5th Cr. 1992) (citing United States
v. Rochester, 898 F.2d 971, 978 (5th Cr. 1990)) (no abuse of
di scretion when jury instructed as to the terns “knowi ngly” and
“intent to defraud” and defendant able to argue good faith before
jury).
D.

Matt hews bases error on the adm ssion of G hak’s banking
policy violations. We review for abuse of discretion. United
States v. Harvard, 103 F.3d 412, 422 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 522
US 824 (1997); see FeD. R EviD. 103.

Matt hews states correctly that violation of acivil regul ation
cannot be used to establish crimnal conduct. See United States v.
Christo, 614 F. 2d 486 (5th Cr. 1980). On the other hand, he fails
to address the fact that evidence of such violations is adm ssible
to show notive or intent. Harvard, 103 F.3d at 422; United States
v. Parks, 68 F.3d 860, 866-67 (5th Cr. 1995), cert. denied, 516
U S. 1098, and cert. denied, 516 U S. 1133, and cert. denied, 516
U S. 1151 (1996).

The court did not abuse its discretion by admtting evidence
of Ci hak’s banking policy violations. The evidence concerning
First City' s policies prohibiting its officers fromentering into
certain business relationships with borrowers was offered to show

Matt hews’ and Lundy’s notive for concealing fromFirst Gty their
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various deals with, and benefits to, G hak. Furthernore, the court
gave a cautionary instruction regarding bank policies to prevent
“boot strappi ng” policy violations into a conviction. United States
v. Cordell, 912 F.2d 769, 777 (5th Gr. 1990).

E

Lundy chal lenges the district court’s allowi ng testinony by
his former wfe, Lucille Drinkwater, about her confidential
communi cations with him Again, the adm ssion of evidence is
reviewed for abuse of discretion.

There are two distinct aspects of the marital privilege: one
spouse cannot be conpelled to testify against the other; and a
spouse cannot testify about confidential conmuni cati ons made duri ng
the marri age. United States v. Ramriz, 145 F.3d 345, 355 (5th
Cir. 1998). The first aspect ends on termnation of the marri age.
United States v. Crockett, 534 F.2d 589, 604 n.17 (5th Cr. 1976).
Lundy and Drinkwater divorced in 1993, long before trial.
Therefore, he can only contest testinony about confidential
conmmuni cat i ons.

The privilege “extends only to utterances, and not to acts”.
Pereira v. United States, 347 US. 1, 6 (1954). Dri nkwater’s
testinmony regardi ng whether she signed the $5.2 mllion loan did
not involve any confidential communication, so any objection by
Lundy as to that testinony is neritless.

In addition, Drinkwater was questioned about her prior
i nconsi stent grand jury testinony concerning statenents by Lundy.

The court properly noted such testinony was introduced to inpeach
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Dri nkwat er rather than as substantive evidence. There was no abuse
of discretion in admtting prior grand jury testinmony for that
pur pose. See FED R EviD. 801(d)(1); see also, e.g., Howard v.
Gonzal es, 658 F.2d 352, 356 (5th Gr. Unit A 1981).
L1l

The evi dence was nore than sufficient for a rational juror to
find, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that Defendants were guilty of
conspiracy, bank fraud and bri bery, and nmaking fal se statenents to
a bank. Regarding the challenged jury instructions, the court did
not err in giving the one on false statenents and in refusing the
one on good faith. Finally, it did not abuse its discretion in
adm tting evidence concerni ng banki ng policy violations and cl ai ned
marital conmmunications. Therefore, the judgnent is

AFF| RMED.
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